91442-

Received Washington State Supreme Court

MAR 2 0 2015 E Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

COA Division I No. 70597-1-I

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARTHUR WEST, appellant,

Vs.

PETE HOLMES, SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE, CITY OF SEATTLE, respondents

## APPELLANT WEST'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Arthur West 120 State Ave N.E. #1497 Olympia, Washington, 98501

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellant Arthur West respectfully moves the Court for relief designated in Part B of this petition.

#### **B. RELIEF REQUESTED**

West respectfully requests review of the decisions of the Washington State

Court of Appeals for Division II in Case No. 70597-1-I filed January 20 and

February 18, 2015. The Washington State Supreme Court should accept review,

and reverse the Division II published opinion and remand the case.

A copy of the decisions are appended as Appendix A.

### C. SUMMARY & WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the following grounds for review of appellate

decisions:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by another division of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This case should be considered under prongs one, two, three and four of this rule. The issue of whether interoffice calendar records of public officials relevant to an ongoing investigation of illegal campaign activity should be disclosed when found to be responsive is an issue of substantial public importance that should be decided by the Supreme Court.

The Appeals Court ruling conflicts with precedent concerning virtually identical conduct by the City in Fischer Broadcasting v. City of Seattle as well as the Courts' rulings in Neighborhood Alliance, WPPS, PAWS II, and Nissen v. Pierce County The Supreme Court should also accept review.

#### **D.** ISSUES PRESENTED

I Is the question of whether public officials' electronic interoffice calendar related correspondence and records should be disclosed when they are responsive to a PRA request and material to an investigation of illegal campaign activity an issue of substantial public importance?

II Does the Appeals Court decision below conflict the ruling of the Supreme Court in a very similar case, Fischer Broadcasting v. City of Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515, 326 P.3d 688 (2014), finding the City of Seattle in violation of the PRA for failing to provide records from a database, Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) which requires an adequate search for and produce all responsive records, PAWS v. University of Washington, 125 Wn.2d 243, 262, 884 P.2d 592 (1994), and Nissen v. Pierce County, 183 Wn. App. 581, 333 P.3d 577 (2014), which broadly defines records in accord with RCW 42.56.010(4) ?

#### **E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On August 27, 2012, Appellant West made a request for records to the City of Seattle. Section 3 of the request sought "All records, communications or correspondence (see above) about or concerning I-502 or between the City Attorney or City Attorney's office and any sponsor or representative of the I-502 campaign, January of 2011 to the present."

On / / 2012, plaintiff West filed a complaint for violation of the PRA. The Original Complaint clearly alleged unreasonable delay in the production of records, and withholding of records, (See Complaint at 1.1, 2.2, 3.8, 4.1, 5.1) claims that included within their scope delays and nondisclosure caused by silent withholding. (CP )

On January 7, 2013, the PDC and Pete Holmes entered an agreed order stipulating to 3 violations of the Public Disclosure Act involving

lillegal use of City resources by Pete Holmes to campaign for I-502 (CP)

The records that the PDC used to establish the violations principally featured the calendars owned, used in correspondence between staff, and retained by City Attorney Pete Holmes (and his secretary) to simultaneously manage his duties as Seattle City Attorney and campaign for ballot measure I-502. (CP )

These critical records of the activities of a public official, although responsive to West's request for records and correspondence, and known to exist by the city, were not disclosed to West until he specifically requested them under discovery. (CP)

Like the actual calendar of the Honorable Judge Linde, (CP 224) which was created by a judicial assistant and used to coordinate the administration of justice in the King County Court in May of 2013, the withheld records in this case, the actual calendars of the activities of the Seattle City Attorney, (CP 8690) were "created" by a public official (his assistant Kim Garrett, (CP 93, 96)) "maintained" by the City, and "used" by being in used "correspondence" and shared with other officials (Angelica Mendoza and John Schochet (CP 96)) to coordinate and conduct the operations of Mr. Holmes and the City Attorney's office.

It is beyond reasonable dispute that the City Attorney had a regular business practice of a weekly "calendar perusal sessions" (CP 231-279, 282, 295, 305, 310) where the calendars were **"used"** to coordinate the activities of the office. Clearly, the withheld records were the subject of electronic correspondence, and were used and controlled by the City. It could hardly be otherwise, as without calendars, it would be impossible for an office like the Seattle City Attorney to operate in a coordinated manner in coordination with its many support staff.

On / / 2013, the defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP ) On / / 2013, the court granted summary judgment of dismissal. An Order was signed on / / 2013. (CP )

Plaintiff moved for reconsideration on / / /2013. (CP)
Plaintiff filed a declaration re new evidence on / / /2013. (CP)
On / / 2013 the Court entered an Order denying reconsideration (CP)

On / / 2013, the Plaintiff filed a timely Notice of Appeal (CP

On January 20 2015 Division II of the Court of appeals issued an unpublished opinion affirming the trial court.

On February 18, 2015, an order denying reconsideration was entered.

West files this timely Petition for Review to the Washington State Supreme Court.

# F. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

## 1. The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The issue of whether public officials' Outlook calendar related records and correspondence should be disclosed when they are discovered to be responsive to a public records request and an ongoing investigation of illegal campaign activity is an issue of substantial public importance.

Production of correspondence such as interoffice electronic appointment calendars is extremely important due to the increased use and access of electronic information and materials, especially when those materials are maintained on an agency's internal computer system<sup>1</sup>

The questions presented in this case concerning whether public officials' interoffice calendar records should be disclosed when found to be responsive to a public records request and an investigation under the Public Disclosure Act are of substantial public interest.

When construing statutes, the goal is to ascertain and effectuate legislative intent. The People and the Legislature both intended to require that the Public Disclosure and Records Act be liberally interpreted to ensure that records

<sup>1</sup> Patricia Fallon, The Freedom of Information Act and electronic calendars examined in Consumer Federation of America v. Department of Agriculture, (455 F.3d 283, (2006)) *The Public Servant, Vol. 8, No. 4, (2007)* 

concerning the funding of ballot propositions be disclosed and the public interest be protected.

These matters present issues of substantial and statewide public importance.

## 2. The decision of the Court is in conflict with the precedent of Fischer, Neighborhood Alliance, Utter, WPPS, and Nissen. The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case was directly at odds not

only with the recent decision of this Court in Fischer, but also with the precedent of Neighborhood Alliance, Utter, PAWS, WPPS, and Nissen requiring that the PRA be interpreted liberally to ensure that the liberal intent of the people be fulfilled and to require the disclosure of electronic records and correspondence concerning publicly funded support of a ballot proposition.

## 3. A significant question of law of the State of Washington is involved.

The issue of whether interoffice calendar correspondence and records demonstrating illegal use of public resources to support a ballot measure are responsive to a records request for all records related to the balot measure is a significant question of law.

1.

## **G. ARGUMENT**

The issue of production of interoffice electronic correspondence such as electronic appointment calendars is extremely important due to the increased use and access of electronic information and materials, especially when those

materials are only maintained on an agency's internal computer system<sup>2</sup>.

This case concerns the refusal of the City of Seattle to produce known responsive records, the calendars transmitted between the staff at the Seattle City Attorney's office which were owned, used, exchanged and retained to manage the schedule of a prominent elected law enforcement official, Seattle City Attorney Pete Holmes.

As the Supreme Court recently ruled in a similar case involving the City

of Seattle's refusal to provide law enforcement related records...

We recognize that neither the PRA itself nor our case law have clearly defined the difference between creation and production of public records, likely because this question did not arise before the widespread use of electronically stored data. Given the way public records are now stored (and, in many cases, initially generated), there will not always be a simple dichotomy between producing an existing record and creating a new one. But "public record" is broadly defined and includes "existing data compilations from which information may be obtained" "regardless of physical form or characteristics." RCW 42.56.010(4), (3). This broad definition includes electronic information in a database. Id.; see also WAC 44-14-04001. Merely because information is in a database designed for a different purpose does not exempt it from disclosure. Nor does it necessarily make the production of information a creation of a record.... (T)he uncontroverted evidence presented showed that a partially responsive response could have been produced at the time of the original denial. The failure to do so violated the PRA. Fischer Broadcasting v. City of Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515, 326 P.3d 688 (2014) (Emphasis added) In the present case, as in the Fischer Broadcasting case, once the City of

Seattle realized that responsive information existed in a database it had a duty to

produce the information or face potential violations of the PRA.

<sup>2</sup> Patricia Fallon, The Freedom of Information Act and electronic calendars examined in Consumer Federation of America v. Department of Agriculture, (455 F.3d 283, (2006)) *The Public Servant, Vol. 8, No. 4, (2007)* 

The Court of Appeals in its January 20, 2015 ruling creates new precedent in conflict with the ruling of the Supreme Court in Fischer, and appears to have also created a new "These are not the droids you're looking for" exemption of unprecedented scope-one that will be used to justify agencies across the State turning a blind eye to known responsive records and interoffice correspondence contained in electronic databases.

The technological advancements of recent years have radically changed the capability for storing information as well as agency practices in sharing and exchanging correspondence in the form of electronic records such as the weekly outlook calendars exchanged by the staff of the Seattle City Attorney to simultaneously manage his public duties as City Attorney and his private affairs as a leading proponent of ballot proposition I-502.

The exhibit appearing at CP 224 of this case<sup>3</sup> demonstrates unequivocally that the maintenance and disclosure of the calendars of elected public law enforcement officials such as Judges and City Attorneys are essential to the sound operation of the government of this State, even when they are produced and maintained as electronic databases in programs such as Microsoft Outlook<sup>©</sup>.

This conclusion is supported by the reasoning of this Court in Fischer Broadcasting, Neighborhood Alliance, and WPPS as well as Division II in Nissen and the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia.

In <u>Consumer Federation of America v. Department of Agriculture</u>, 455 F.3d 283, (2006) the D.C. Court of Appeals noted that there did not appear to be any practical distinction between the former practice of distributing calendar

<sup>3</sup> The Calendar of the Honorable Judge Linde for the week of May 10, 2013

information in paper format or in hard copy versus the modern practice of allowing access to electronically stored information through an internal network.

As even the Honorable Judge Linde recognized, at the hearing held pursuant to the calendar provided by the Court to the parties to ensure their attendance and participation at the hearing calendared for May 10, 2013...

Seeing... how those scheduled events fit in and to a calendar is key to understanding what our public officials are doing... (See transcript of May 10, 2013, at page 37, lines 20-22)

The records at issue in this appeal are these same "key" calendar records of the official weekly calendars of the Seattle City Attorney, responsive records that were created, used, exchanged between Mr. Holmes, his secretary, and other staff members, and maintained by the city, yet withheld from plaintiff in violation of the Public Records Act.

Significantly, while these records were withheld from West, they were provided by the City to the Public Disclosure Commission in response to a PDC investigation related to enforcement of violations of the Public Disclosure Act by the Seattle City Attorney and his staff concerning the calendaring of I-502 campaign activities (CP 101-103)

The PDC, in its investigation of Seattle City Attorney Holmes (CP 95-100) clearly found the calendar records maintained and used by the City were key to an understanding of what the City Attorney was doing in regard to I-502.

The only question that remains is: WHY were these known and responsive records not produced to plaintiff in the first place so he could share in these "Key" understandings, as required by the manifest remedial intent of the Public Records Act? This case underscores the reason the drafters of I-276 combined campaign finance and reporting law with the requirement that government records be public, in order that the information necessary to establish compliance with the law be available, so that the broad remedial intent of new law, that the people be informed of the conduct of government, and be able to hold it accountable, could reasonably be effectuated.

The official interoffice calendar records (containing initiative related campaign information) of a senior law enforcement official such as Seattle City Attorney Pete Holmes are obviously responsive to a request for "all records" related to the same initiative and the activities of the selfsame City Attorney.

If the broad remedial policy of the Public Records and Public Disclosure Acts are to be effectuated, it is essential that such key responsive records as the official electronic interoffice calendars of senior elected officials like Seattle City Attorney Pete Holmes be readily disclosed, prior to citizens having to go to court to attempt to compel disclosure.

I. The Court erred in failing to interpret the PDA and PRA liberally to effectuate the express intent of the people "that... lobbying contributions and expenditures be fully disclosed to the public and that secrecy is to be avoided" by the City of Seattle.

This Court recently reaffirmed the intent of the Public Disclosure Act

expressed in RCW 42.17A.001<sup>4</sup>, and the requirement that the Act ...be liberally construed to promote complete disclosure of all information respecting the

<sup>4</sup>RCW 42.17A.0001.1 provides...It is hereby declared by the sovereign people to be the public policy of the state of Washington: (1) That political campaign and lobbying contributions and expenditures be fully disclosed to the public and that secrecy is to be avoided.

financing of...lobbying...and full access to public records so as to assure continuing public confidence..and so as to assure that the public interest will be fully protected...

The provisions of the FCPA, moreover, "shall be liberally construed to promote complete disclosure of all information respecting the financing of political campaigns and lobbying, and the financial affairs of elected officials and candidates, and full access to public records so as to assure continuing public confidence of fairness of elections and governmental processes, and so as to assure that the public interest will be fully protected." RCW 42.17A.OO1. Utter and Ireland. v. Building Industry Association of Washington, No. 89462-1, January 22, 2015 Slip Opinion at 5-6

The Court of Appeals ruling in the present case is irreconcilable with this Court's ruling in Utter and Ireland in that in failed to interpret the Public Disclosure Act liberally to ensure that Seattle City Attorney Pete Holmes' use of public resources on behalf of a ballot measure, I-502 were fully disclosed to the public and that secrecy was to be avoided, and to effectuate the remedial and hands on intent of the people in adopting what was, in 1974, billed as "The Spirit of I-(2)76".

The basic rule is that a statute should be construed in light of the legislative purpose behind its enactment... being remedial in nature, (a statute) is entitled to a liberal construction to effect its purpose. Nucleonics Department v. WPPS, 101 Wn.2d 24, 677 P.2d 108, (1984)

As the Supreme Court ruled on the PDA only 4 years after it was

overwhelmingly approved by the Voters..

A policy requiring liberal construction is a command that the coverage of an act's provisions be liberally construed and that its exceptions be narrowly confined. Hearst Co. v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 138, 580 P.2d 246 (1978), (cited in WPPS)

The attached Article demonstrates that the manifest intent of the People's

Initiative billed as the Spirit of I (2)76" was to provide accessible, hands on, citizen driven remedies for campaign finance violations and secrecy.

II. The ruling of Division I conflicted with the holdings in Neighborhood Alliance and PAWS II by not requiring the City of Seattle to make a diligent search for and produce known responsive records when West's original request for "<u>All records</u>, communications or correspondence...about or concerning I-502" reasonably encompassed the City Attorney's interoffice Outlook calendar that reflected unlawful campaign activity on behalf of I-502.

It is beyond reasonable dispute that West's original request for All records,... about or concerning I-502" reasonably included any existing "writings" of interoffice calendar records of campaign activities unlawfully scheduled and placed on the City Attorney's official work calendar.

Examination of the request demonstrates that it sought "All records.. about or concerning I-502...". Such a request necessarily includes "writings" maintained and used by the agency related to I-502, especially when they were the official interoffice Outlook calendars of the Senior law enforcement officer of the City, Seattle City Attorney Pete Holmes.

In consideration of the above, it is obvious that the City's attempts to deny that the request included "records" and that the Outlook calendars showing I-502 related meetings and events were not-responsive to a request for I-502 related records are simply not within the pale of reasonable argument.

Further, the City completely misrepresents the facts and the contents of the Brief filed by the appellant when it attempts to allege that the City performed a valid search and West failed to argue this issue. As the Appellant argued in the Opening Brief...

"The City simply cannot be allowed to hide behind the spurious

smokescreen of a "reasonable search" when records known to exist were concealed, for, as the Supreme Court and the federal judiciary have recognized, the agency bears the burden, beyond material doubt, of showing its search was adequate in cases involving disclosure of public records.

To do so, the agency... should establish that all places likely to contain responsive materials were searched. Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011), citing Valencia-Lucena, 180 F.3d at 325.

The City in this case did not meet this burden because they did not conduct a search of, or produce the interoffice Outloook calendar records of, the of governmental functions of the Seattle City Attorney that they have certified were known to exist, and the City records officer did not contact the Seattle City Attorney or staff and Search their paper records or review even the most basic records as the interoffice Outlook calendar correspondence that staff accessed and exchanged to manage and coordinate the schedule of the Seattle City Attorney..

These were places that were reasonably likely to have responsive records, especially since it was no secret that Mr. Holmes was an outspoken and active proponent of I-502.

As the Supreme Court underscored in the Neighborhood Alliance decision...

...(A)gencies are required to make more than a perfunctory search and to follow obvious leads as they are uncovered. Valencia-Lucena v. U.S. Coast Guard, 336 U.S. App. D.C. 386, 180 F.3d 321, 326 (1999). The search should not be limited to one or more places if there are additional sources for the information requested. Valencia-Lucena, 180 F.3d at 326. Indeed, "the agency cannot limit its search to only one record system if there are others that are likely to turn up the information requested." Oglesby v. U.S. Dep't of Army, 287 U.S. App. D.C. 126, 920 F.2d 57, 68 (1990).

The City should not have been allowed by the Court of Appeals to veil nondisclosure of responsive records behind a perfunctory search and claim that they believed that only isolated entries existed when they were very well aware that actual "calendars" and interoffice correspondence was available in the form of weekly Outlook calendar records that were "Used" by the City Attorney and his staff to manage and coordinate their activities..

Significantly, the defendants have not alleged that they were unaware of the existence of these tabular registers in the form of weekly calendars. In fact, the declaration of Mr. Jaeger demonstrates that the City was well aware of the existence of these "records" but deliberately decided not to disclose them. (See Jaeger Declaration at page 2, lines 9-10)"

Under such circumstances it is evident that the ruling of the Court of Appeals in this case violates clear black letter precedent of this Court.

III. The interoffice Outlook calendar records withheld by the city were "records" and "existing data compilations from which information may be obtained or translated." as recognized by Division II in Nissen and defined in RCW 42.56.010(3) and (4)

RCW 42.56.010 (3) and (4) define public "records" to include "existing data compilations from which information may be obtained or translated" (emphasis added),

This definition cannot be misrepresented to omit records such as the **existing Outlook calendar data compilations** from which calendars were

created, shared, used, perused and retained to coordinate the administration and operation of the office of the Seattle City Attorney.

The Settle City Attorney is not akin to a wild antelope<sup>5</sup> freely roaming the African savannah, subject to the vicissitudes of a predator-prey relationship, but is, conversely, a senior elected law enforcement officer whose duties on behalf of the public are governed by the documentation<sup>6</sup> of his official interoffice Outlook calendar records.

For the public and the PDC to be fully informed of the activities of their government so that the policy of the Public Disclosure and Public Records Acts can be effectuated, it is imperative that key records such as a senior law enforcement official's interoffice Outlook calendar records be available after the meetings have been attended.

The fact that these known responsive records were not disclosed by the city of Seattle may not have been malicious or the product of a conspiracy to hide illegal capaign activity, but it was a serious omission of relevant and critical data nonetheless.

The withheld Outlook calendar records were known responsive records meeting the definitions of RCW 42.56.010 (3) and (4).

As the Supreme Court held in PAWS II, the failure to produce responsive records known to exist constitutes silent withholding. The City violated the PRA in refusing to provide the known responsive Outlook calendar records to the

<sup>5</sup> The Lady and the Antelope: Suzanne Briet's Contribution to the French Documentation Movement, Library Trends 52, no. 4 (March 22, 2004):

<sup>6</sup> Suzanne Briet, What is Documentation ?. the Journal of the American Society of Information Science, v. 48, no. 9 (Sept 1997), pp. 804-809.

plaintiff, particularly when they were the only existing record of the official

activities of the City Attorney for the City of Seattle.

## IV. The fact that Outlook Calendar records are responsive and subject to disclosure is recognized by the EPA, the federal government, and the D. C. Court of Appeals, sources of indisputable integrity and veracity.

ER 402 allows notice of adjudicative facts to be taken at any point. In

this case it is subject to judicial notice that the United States EPA, a source of

unimpeachable veracity, states the following in its official guidance on public

disclosure.

# I keep my calendar on the Microsoft Outlook e-mail system. Is it still a record?

The same rules apply to calendars that are maintained electronically as for those maintained in paper. Until EPA has an electronic recordkeeping system, the record copy of your calendar in Microsoft Outlook must be printed out on a regular basis (at least once a month) and filed in your paper recordkeeping system. This is especially important for calendars of senior officials since they are permanent records.

This conclusion is shared by the Justice Department and the White

House, both of which make calendar information of their senior officials available online.

The characteristics of electronic calendars were closely examined by the

Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit in Consumer Federation of America v.

Department of Agriculture, 455 F.3d 283, (2006).

In that case, the court recognized that, as in the instant case...

The technologically savvy... officials kept their calendars "on the... computer system,", thus necessarily subjecting them to the control of that system's administrators.

The Court in the Consumer Federation case found there to be no practical difference between distributing paper copies of calendars and allowing access to electronic copies in the manner that Pete Holmes' calendar was disclosed to and used by his assistants to coordinate the functions of the City Attorney's office. As the Court noted...

However, there does not appear to be any practical difference between the former practice of distributing information in printed form on hard copies and the modern practice of allowing others access through network computers. In any meaningful sense, the USDA calendars were electronically "distributed" to the listed recipients and were used by them to schedule agency meetings and prevent conflicts.

Additionally, the Consumer Federation court observed...

Allowing others to have routine computer access to a calendar, however, is more like distributing hard copies than it is like permitting occasional glances at a document on a desk. In allowing computer access, the official surrenders personal control over the document and indicates that it will be used by others to plan their own workdays.

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