RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Apr 20, 2015, 2:36 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 91442-7

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARTHUR WEST,

Appellant,

vs.

PETE HOLMES, SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE, CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondents,

RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

Jessica Nadelman, WSBA #27569 Assistant City Attorney Attorneys for Respondents

Seattle City Attorney's Office 701 – 5th Avenue, Suite 2050 Seattle, Washington 98104-7097 (206) 684-8200

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

V. ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO REQUEST FOR REVIEW

Under RAP 13.4(b), the Court grants review only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This case meets none of the grounds for discretionary review. West fails to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with any Supreme Court or other Court of Appeals decision, involves a constitutional question, or is of substantial public interest. West's Petition for Review primarily concerns issues the parties did not litigate including whether the calendar print outs are public record, whether calendars are important to public officials, and whether calendar print outs would have been helpful to West. The Court should deny review.

A. The Court of Appeals decision is Consistent with the Public Records Act and Supreme Court Precedent.

West argues that because the Supreme Court in *Fisher* found that the City had to produce records from a database, the Court of Appeals decision was made in error. However, these decisions are factually and legally unrelated. The request in *Fisher* concerned a record that must be created by combining data maintained in two separate data management systems. *Fisher Broadcasting v. City of Seattle*, 180 Wn.2d at 523. The *Fisher* Court found that under the PRA, the City was not required to create a record by combining the databases but should have produced a "partially responsive record" by providing data from one database. *Id*.

Unlike *Fisher*, the present case, does not concern complex records management systems, partially responsive records, or creating records. In contrast to *Fisher*, here the City produced the requested electronic records. In his Petition, West ignores that his request did not encompass calendar print outs. He refers to the calendars repeatedly as "responsive records" as if using that label will make them so. *See* Pet. at 2, 5, 7, 9, 10, 14, 15. He further fails to recognize that the City provided him with responsive calendar records – 39 individual appointments related to I-502. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the City released all responsive records and in doing so, complied fully with the PRA.

Nothing in *Fisher* required the City to produce records not requested. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with *Fisher* and does not meet the standard for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent with Court of Appeals Precedent

The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with Neighborhood Alliance. In Neighborhood Alliance, the court held that, under the PRA, a search for requested records must be reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents. Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Co. v. County of Spokane, 172 Wn.2d at 721. The City located electronic records. It searched personal devices. Finally, contrary to West's assertion, the City searched hundreds of pages of paper records. CP 6-7, 29, 30. West agreed that the received records responsive to all parts of his request. RP 28-32. The Court of Appeals properly found that City's search was adequate and consistent with the Neighborhood Alliance standard. Op. at 6.

West argues that because one part of his request included "all records . . . about or concerning I-502," under the *Neighborhood Alliance* standard, the City should have searched for and produced the five calendar printouts. In so arguing, he disregards the basic facts of his request. The request was titled "I-502 Related Correspondence." CP 38. His request did not mention records related to the hundreds of other issues the City

Attorney may address through his work. The record identifies record types to include "any paper records, or records of telephone calls, LUDs, text messages, PDA communications, or emails from any mobile or stationary device." CP 38. This list does not encompass calendar printouts. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that "West's PRA request does not reasonably suggest that he was seeking complete calendar views, whether daily, weekly or monthly." Op. at 6.

The Court of Appeals correctly observed that West provided no evidence that the City's search was inadequate. Op. at 8. In his Petition, West makes the circular argument that the City's failure to produce the calendar printouts is evidence of an inadequate search. Pet. at 13. This argument is in direct conflict with the holding in Neighborhood Alliance that the focus of the search should be on the search, not on records. Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Co. v. County of Spokane, 172 Wn.2d at 721. The City conducted an adequate search when it located responsive records by using carefully chosen search terms, locations and custodians. CP 30-33. This finding is consistent with Neighborhood Alliance and provides no basis for review. The Neighborhood Alliance case does not require agencies to conduct searches to locate records not requested.

Despite West's failure to request calendars, the City produced individual electronic calendar records responsive to the request. The

Outlook system comprises .ICS files which are individual calendar appointments that can be viewed in a variety of ways from daily to weekly to monthly. CP 33. The City used its email archive system to retrieve the 39 calendar appointments related to I-502 and produced those records in their entirety to West. CP 34.

West cites to several Court of Appeals cases in his section headings, but fails to cogently argue that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the cited cases. Pet. at 12, 15. The cited cases, Nissen and PAWS, concern, in part, the definition of public record under RCW 42.56.010(3) and RCW 42.56.010(4). West appears to be claiming that the holdings in the cited cases required the City to provide the calendar printouts because they are public record. Pet. at 12, 15. Nothing in the Nissen and PAWS decisions, regardless of the definition of public record, requires the City to provide records not requested. The Court of Appeals decision did not address the definition of public record and therefore could not possibly conflict with any prior decisions that would merit review Similarly, the United States Environmental under RAP 13.4(b)(2). Protection Agency policy regarding the retention of printed versions electronic calendars, cited by West, is irrelevant to the issues and provides no basis for discretionary review.

Finally West argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Utter*, a case concerning political campaigns regulated under RCW 42.17A. Pet. at 11. RCW 42.17A governs disclosure of lobbying expenditures. The Court of Appeals' decision is not inconsistent with *Utter* because it did not address the standards for disclosure under RCW 42.17A. West raises this issue for the first time in his Petition for Review. The *Utter* case does not affect disclosure of records not requested and provides no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. No Constitutional Question is at Issue

West does not argue that a constitutional question is at issue.

There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

D. The Petition Raises No Issue of Substantial Public Interest

West's remaining arguments focus on the importance of electronic calendars to public officials. Pet. at 5-6, 8-10, 17-18. While electronic calendars may be of significant public interest because they show the activities of public officials, West did not request calendars. An agency is not required, under the PRA, to read a requesters mind concerning their records request. *Bonamy v. City of Seattle*, 92 Wn.App. 403, 412. The Court of Appeals correctly noted that West has an "obligation to identify the records that he seeks with sufficient clarity to permit the City to locate them." Op. at 8. The City did not produce the calendar printouts because

West failed to include calendars in his request or respond to the City's communications regarding their search.

The Consumer Federation of America v. Dept of Agriculture, 455 F.3d 283, 372 U.S.App.D.C. 198 (2006) case is inapplicable here. Pet. at 16-18. In Consumer Federation, the request specified "access to public calendars." Consumer Federation of America v. Dept of Agriculture, 455 F.3d at 285. The court determined that electronic calendars of USDA employees were agency, not personal, records based on the purposes for which the calendars were used. Id. at 289. The court's analysis in Consumer Federation creates no issue of substantial public interest subject to review. At no time was the use of calendars litigated by the parties or decided upon by a court. It should not support review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Court should deny the Petition because the issues it is being asked to review are not the subject of the underlying litigation.

VI. CONCLUSION

West has met none of the criteria for accepting review under RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals decision correctly applied the standards in *Neighborhood Alliance* and *Bonamy*. Nothing in West's petition supports revisiting those standards. Review by this Court is not merited.